Characterization of Murine BH3-Only BLK

Samar Vikram Pai

Thesis submitted to the Faculty of Graduate Studies and Research In partial fulfillment of the requirements of the degree of M.Sc

> Department of Biochemistry McGill University Montreal

© Samar Vikram Pai, February 2004



Library and Archives Canada

Published Heritage Branch

395 Wellington Street Ottawa ON K1A 0N4 Canada Bibliothèque et Archives Canada

Direction du Patrimoine de l'édition

395, rue Wellington Ottawa ON K1A 0N4 Canada

> Your file Votre référence ISBN: 0-612-98715-9 Our file Notre référence ISBN: 0-612-98715-9

NOTICE:

The author has granted a nonexclusive license allowing Library and Archives Canada to reproduce, publish, archive, preserve, conserve, communicate to the public by telecommunication or on the Internet, loan, distribute and sell theses worldwide, for commercial or noncommercial purposes, in microform, paper, electronic and/or any other formats.

The author retains copyright ownership and moral rights in this thesis. Neither the thesis nor substantial extracts from it may be printed or otherwise reproduced without the author's permission.

AVIS:

L'auteur a accordé une licence non exclusive permettant à la Bibliothèque et Archives Canada de reproduire, publier, archiver, sauvegarder, conserver, transmettre au public par télécommunication ou par l'Internet, prêter, distribuer et vendre des thèses partout dans le monde, à des fins commerciales ou autres, sur support microforme, papier, électronique et/ou autres formats.

L'auteur conserve la propriété du droit d'auteur et des droits moraux qui protège cette thèse. Ni la thèse ni des extraits substantiels de celle-ci ne doivent être imprimés ou autrement reproduits sans son autorisation.

In compliance with the Canadian Privacy Act some supporting forms may have been removed from this thesis.

While these forms may be included in the document page count, their removal does not represent any loss of content from the thesis.



Conformément à la loi canadienne sur la protection de la vie privée, quelques formulaires secondaires ont été enlevés de cette thèse.

Bien que ces formulaires aient inclus dans la pagination, il n'y aura aucun contenu manquant.

<u>ABSTRACT</u>

BLK has 43% sequence homology to BIK and an identical BH3 domain, a region that is critical for its proapoptotic activity, making it the strongest candidate mouse ortholog. In addition, the gene structures of these two proteins are similar in functional organization. BLK and BIK activate apoptosis in similar fashion in both human and mouse cell lines, dependent on the presence of a functional BH3 domain and active caspases. BLK, like BIK, is very unstable and can be stabilized by addition of pan caspase inhibitor, zVAD-fmk. In contrast to BIK, BLK is not upregulated by p53 at the RNA or protein level in several mouse cell line systems. Furthermore, BLK localizes to the mitochondria, not to the endoplasmic reticulum To further investigate the localization of BLK and BIK, the where BIK resides. transmembrane domains of these proteins were swapped. BLKBIK and BIKBLK both localized to the endoplasmic reticulum. Enhanced Green Fluorescent Protein fused to the transmembrane domains of BLK and BIK also localized to the endoplasmic reticulum. The mitochondrial localization of BLK despite its transmembrane domain preference for the endoplasmic reticulum suggests that the Nterminal portion of BLK plays a role in targeting. Collectively, these results argue that BLK is not the functional mouse homolog of BIK.

<u>RÉSUMÉ</u>

La protéine de souris BLK et la proteine humaine BIK ont 43% d'homologie au niveau de la sequence acid aminé et ont un domaine BH3 identique qui est nécessaire à leur activité proapoptotique. Ceci suggère que BLK est l'orthologue de BIK dans la souris. En plus, la structure des genes de ces deux protéines ont une organisation fonctionnelle semblable. BLK et BIK induisent l'apoptose d'une manière similaire dans des lignés cellulaires humanines et murines. Dans les deux cas, le processus requière un domaine BH3 fonctionnel et des caspases actives. BLK, tout comme BIK, est une protéine tres instable qui peut être stabilisée par l'addition de l'inhibiteur pan caspases zVAD-fmk. Contrairement à BIK, le niveau d'ARN ou de protéines de BLK n'est pas augmenté par p53 dans plusieurs lignées cellulaires murines. De plus, BLK est située niveau des mitochondries, alors que BIK est situé au niveau du réticulum endoplasmique. Pour mieux élucider le méchanisme de localisation de BLK at BIK, nous avons échané leur domaine transmembranaire. Les protéines BLKBIK at BIKBLK sont toutes deux situées au niveau du réticulum endoplasmique. Les domaines transmembranaires de BLK at BIK fusionnés avec eGFP sont localisés au niveau du réticulum endoplasmique. Le fait que BLK soit localisé au niveau de la mitochondrie malgré la préférence de son doamine transmembrananire pour le réticulum endoplasmique suggère que la portion Nterminale de BLK joue un rôle dans la localisation de la protéine. L'ensemble de ces résultats suggère que BLK n'est pas l'homologue murine de BIK.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

Mom and Dad for their support, emotional and financial, as well as their undivided attention.

Dr.Gordon Shore for being a great supervisor, creating a work environment with the perfect blend of freedom and guidance. Your passion for academia and industry will no doubt give rise to exciting developments in both basic research and therapeutics.

Dr.Mai Nguyen, my 2^{nd} mother, for exhaustive support and help with lab issues, women issues, and everything in between. Will I ever learn? In addition, thanks for Figure 3 and Figure 6E.

Rathna, my 3rd mother, for grooming me for marriage...improvement noted, but not quite ready.

Dr.Sonny Ruffolo, for all the good grades on lab reports just for being a 49ers fan. See you in San Francisco.

Marina Stojanovic, for all the laughs and advice. We'll probably end up working together in a couple of years.

Jaigi Mathai, for being a model of what a real man should be. Even though I am leaving, I hope my training will continue. Simply a pillar of strength.

Stephanie Bueler, (Lil')Nhi Nguyen, Mary Sutherland, Marc(o) Germain, and "King" Bing Wang for tolerating my behaviour and actions for so long. Your patience has been rewarded.

Vik Chaubey, my only Indian friend. I appreciate all the ego boosts and laughs you provided.

Nancy Boule, for imbuing(cursing?) me with "nice guy" properties. Ten years have passed, and we are starting to figure out that we will never meet halfway on anything.

Mel (Melly) Frigault, for following me from elementary school to graduate studies. I appreciate all the notes, advice, and quality space in the highschool yearbook. I owe you.

Sabine (Sabo) Koszegi, for all the good and bad times we had. How could someone so cute be such a headache? Drives me absolutely nuts.

Vanessa (V) **Jasmin**. Somehow, you took up residence in my heart and brain against my will. No one else can make me smile or laugh like you do. Definitely a blue chipper.

Blood brothers **Sidney Shreves** a.k.a Sid City a.k.a Psycho a.k.a Solid; and **Hassan Yahya** a.k.a Haas a.k.a Haas Diamonds a.k.a Iceman. We are the Triple Threat and always will be. We run game from the 450/514 to the 408. I would take a bullet for either of you anytime, anywhere. Too many memorable showdowns, one-liners, parties, and incidents to count. Kudos to Sid for bringing my alter ego, **Sam Stone**, to life. Only time will tell if the three of us can find a way to work together in the future. Teammates & Brothers 4 Life.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

Introduction

Background of Apoptosis	1
Morphological Characteristics of Apoptosis	1
Apoptosis in C.elegans	2
Caspases and Caspase Substrates	4
Initiator Procaspase Activation	6
The Bcl-2 Family	8
The Mitochondria	11
The Endoplasmic Reticulum	14
P53 Activation Pathways	18
Objective	21

Methods and Materials

Cell Culture	22
Adenovirus Vector Infection	22
Apoptosis Assay	22
Antibodies And Immunoblots	23
Cloning and Mutagenesis	23
Transient Transfections	24
Northern Blots	24
Immunofluorescence	25

Results and Discussion

The Importance of BIK in P53-Mediated Apoptosis Generates an Interest in BLK	26
The Gene Structures of BLK and BIK are Similar	26
BLK and BIK Induction of Apoptosis Requires a Functional BH3 Domain and Caspases	27
The Sensitivity of the BLK Antibody is Sufficient to Detect BLK Protein Function	28
Divergent Signaling: p53 does not Induce BLK mRNA and Protein	29
Divergent Localization: BLK Localizes Primarily to the Mitochondria	32
The Transmembrane Domains of BLK and BIK Localize to the Endoplasmic Reticulum	33
Summary	36

Figures

38
39
40
41
42
43
44
45
46
47
48

References

INTRODUCTION

BACKGROUND OF APOPTOSIS

Apoptosis is a genetically controlled, biochemically executed, physiological form of cell death. Kerr and colleagues were the first to characterize this form of cell death as distinct from classical necrosis^{KERR1972}. Whereas classical necrosis proceeds in an unordered manner leading to an inflammatory response, apoptosis is an organized process that occurs without inflammation.

To ensure normal development and homeostasis, the organism uses the apoptotic machinery to tightly control cell numbers and remove potentially dangerous cells. For example, the apoptotic programme is essential for proper tissue construction and maintenance^{MEIER2000}, as well as digit formation during embryogenesis^{BAER1994}. In addition, cells that contain damaged DNA and that are beyond repair are sensed by the tumor suppressor p53, which triggers apoptosis to eliminate the threat to the organism^{VOGELSTEIN2000}.

Interest in apoptosis stems from its involvement in many diseases^{KAM12000}, since dysregulation can lead to excessive or deficient apoptosis. A mutation in any gene that is involved in coordinating the apoptotic response can lead to dysregulation. Excessive apoptosis accounts for cytopathologic effects of HIV in T cells^{TERAI1991}, primary neuronal cell loss and glial response in Alzheimer diseased brains^{SMALE1995}, and neuronal cell loss following cerebral ischemia^{KRAJEWSKI1995}, whereas deficient apoptosis can lead to aberrant lymphocyte accumulation in autoimmune diseases^{KRAMMER2000}, and tumor formation.

MORPHOLOGICAL CHARACTERISTICS OF APOPTOSIS

Apoptosis is characterized by a distinct set of biochemical and physical changes^{SARASTE2000}. In contrast to classical necrosis, early events in apoptosis include loss

of cell adhesion, cell rounding, and shrinkage^{KERR1994}. In the nucleus, chromatin condenses and is subsequently fragmented internucleosomally into a characteristic DNA "ladder"^{WYLLIE1984} by caspase-activated Dnase (CAD)^{ENARI1998} and caspase-independent endonuclease g^{L12001}. The plasma membrane undergoes blebbing in order to form apoptotic bodies that encapsulate intracellular contents. In addition, the plasma membrane exposes the aminophospholipid phosphatidylserine at its outer leaflet that triggers phagocytic removal of apoptotic bodies^{VAN DEN ELJNDE1998}.

APOPTOSIS IN C.ELEGANS

The nematode *Caenorhabditis elegans* can be used to study the genetic regulation of apoptosis since a complete cellular fate is available and genetic mutants are easily obtained^{METZSTEIN1998}. A *C.elegans* hermaphrodite has 1090 somatic cells, 959 of which develop into defined tissues. Exactly 131 cells are programmed to undergo apoptosis in the wild type nematode. From single gene mutation analyses, the genes *egl-1*, *ced-3* and *ced-4* are required for the death of all 131 somatic cells^{ELLIS1986}, whereas the gene *ced-9* acts as a negative regulator of cell death. Furthermore, gene interaction studies have defined a clear apoptotic pathway in *C.elegans*^{METZSTEIN1998}. In addition, the protein products of these cell-death genes interact directly. EGL-1 inhibits CED-9, CED-9 inhibits CED-4, and CED-4 activates CED-3^{CONRADT1998}.



FIGURE 1.1 - *C.elegans* and mammalian apoptotic pathway. This process is evolutionarily conserved as homologs of EGL-1, CED-9, CED-4, and CED-3 have been identified in mammals (BH3-only, Bcl-2, Apaf-1, Caspase-3).(Hengartner M. 1998. *Science*. 281: 1298-1299.)

Developmental signals increase EGL-1 protein levels, which bind CED-9 in complex with CED-4, allowing CED-4 to activate CED-3 and execute apoptosis. Apoptosis appears to be evolutionarily conserved since mammalian counterparts to these proteins have been identified. EGL-1 is a member of the pro-apoptotic BH3-only subset of the Bcl-2 family of proteins; CED-9 belongs to the anti-apoptotic subset of the Bcl-2 family; CED-3 belongs to the caspase family: proteases responsible for the execution phase of apoptosis^{YUAN1990}; and CED-4 is homologous to Apaf-1, an adaptor protein involved in caspase activation. Although additional players and regulation exist in humans, the basic apoptotic pathway can be studied in *C.elegans*.

CASPASES AND CASPASE SUBSTRATES

Caspases, highly conserved through evolution, are cysteine proteases that cleave substrates after aspartate residues. Substrate specificity is determined by the four residues preceding the cleavage site aspartate residue^{THORNBERRY1997}.

Like most proteases, caspases are synthesized as inactive zymogens known as procaspases. Procaspases are composed of three distinct functional modules: N-terminal prodomain, a large 20 kDa subunit (p20), and a small 10 kDa subunit(p10)^{WOLF1999}. Caspase cleavage sites between these domains permit formation of the mature, active form of the enzyme, which is a heterotetramer containing two p20/p10 heterodimers and two active sites^{EARNSHAW1999}.

There are three classes of caspases: initiator,effector, and inflammatory^{LAWEN2003}. Initiator caspases-2,-8,-9,and -10 couple various death signals to the core apoptotic machinery. These procaspases have large prodomains that contain sequence motifs that are homologous to motifs present in a number of signalling molecules. Motifs such as the caspase activation recruitment domain (CARD) and death effector domain (DED) mediate activation of initiator procaspases into active proteases^{YANG1998}. Effector caspases-3, -6, and -7, have short prodomains and are proteolytically activated by upstream initiator caspases. It is the effector caspases that cleave cellular substrates to mediate the morphological aspects of apoptosis. Rather than function in apoptosis, inflammatory caspases play a major role in cytokine maturation^{GRUTTER2000}.

In addition to disassembling cell structure and preparing the cell for phagocytic digestion, caspases halt cell cycle progression and disable homeostatic and repair systems. In agreement with the notion that caspases execute apoptosis, abrogation of caspase activity through mutation or pharmacological inhibitor will slow down or block

apoptosis^{EARNSHAW1999}. Furthermore, gene knockouts of effector caspases -3 and -9 resist apoptosis and develop abnormally^{HAKEM1998}.

Effector caspases are responsible for executing most of the morphological changes characteristic of apoptosis. Caspases selectively cleave proteins that can lead to inactivation or activation of the target protein. Chromation condensation in the nucleus results from lamin cleavage^{RUCHAUD2002}. DNA repair mechanisms are halted when poly(ADP-ribose)polymerase (PARP), a DNA repair enzyme, is cleaved and inactivated^{BOULARES1999}. Cellular shape changes are primarily due to inactivation of cytoskeletal proteins such as fodrin and gelsolin^{KOTHAKOTA1997}. Cleavage between the negative regulatory subunit and catalytic subunit of p21-associated kinase-2(PAK2)^{RUDEL1997} activates the target protein, leading to subsequent membrane blebbing and apoptotic body packaging. Another example of caspase-mediated activation of proteins is the DNA ladder nucleus CAD, which is activated following cleavage of an inhibitory subunit^{ENARI1998}.

Besides activating effector procaspases, initiator caspases themselves can play an "executioner" role in apoptosis. Caspase-8 can cleave plectin, a protein responsible for crosslinking members of all three filament systems of the cytoskeleton, prior to any other cytoskeletal protein caspase substrates^{STEGH2000}. Perhaps the most important caspase-8 substrate is the BH3-only protein BID, capable of bridging extrinsic death signals to core apoptotic machinery^{LUO1998}. Following caspase-8 cleavage of c ytosolic B ID, truncated BID (tBID) translocates and inserts into the mitochondrial outer membrane^{WEI2000}. tBID then cooperates with the multidomain proapoptotic Bcl-2 family members BAX^{ESKES2000} and BAK^{LUO1998} to release mitochondrial pro-apoptotic factors including cytochrome c.

is the ER resident BAP31^{NG1997}. The presence of crBAP31, a mutant version of BAP31 lacking its caspase recognition sites, prevents membrane fragmentation and cytochrome c release^{NGUYEN2000}. These results imply that BAP31 mediates apoptotic cross-talk between the ER and the mitochondrion.

INITIATOR PROCASPASE ACTIVATION

Death receptors are cell surface receptors that transmit apoptotic signals initiated by specific ligands. Death receptors such as Fas receptor and Tumor Necrosis Factor Receptor-1 (TNFR-1) mediate apoptosis through the formation of a death inducing signalling complex (DISC)^{MUZI01998}. Association of Fas ligand with its receptor promotes receptor trimerization and clustering of intracellular death domains(DD)^{PETER2003}. This event serves to recruit and oligomerize adaptor proteins such as Fas-associated death domain(FADD)^{CHINNAIYAN1996}. FADD is then capable of recruiting an initiator procaspase (-8 or -10) through their prodomain DED. Although procaspase-8 only possesses 1-2% of the activity of the active form, this is sufficient for processing and production of active caspase-8^{MUZIO1998}. As mentioned earlier, caspase-8 can cleave BID, generating tBID that translocates to the mitochondria to stimulate cytochrome c release.



Figure 1.2 – The Death Inducing Signalling Complex (DISC). Ligand binding induces receptor trimerization and intracellular DD clustering, which recruits FADD. FADD then recruits procaspase-8 molecules through their prodomains. Clustering of procaspase-8 leads to activation of mature caspase-8. (Chen M, Wang J. 2002. *Apoptosis*. 7: 313-319)

Released cytochrome c can bind to Apaf-1, the functional homologue of *C.elegans* CED- $4^{ZOU1997}$. In the presence of cytochrome c, WD40 repeats of Apaf-1 molecules are able to associate with each other^{CHANG2003}. Apaf-1 oligomerization generates a wheel-like structure that contains seven molecules of Apaf-1, cytochrome c, and ATP^{ACEHAN2002}.

Oligomerization exposes the C ARD d omain within A paf-1, r esulting in r ecruitment of seven procaspase-9 molecules. Although the mechanism of caspase-9 activation is not clear, active caspase-9 is known to cleave and activate the effector caspase-3. The importance of apoptosome formation is highlighted by the observation that cells deficient for cytochrome c^{L12000}, apaf-1^{YOSHIDA1998}, caspase-9^{KUIDA1998}, or caspase-3^{KUIDA1996} exhibit reduced cell death.

During stress-induced apoptosis, caspase-2 is considered to be the apical caspase^{SCHWEIZER2003}. Caspase-2 is recruited to a large cytosolic protein complex devoid of Apaf-1 and cytochrome c, suggesting the presence of an Apaf-1-independent cytosolic apoptosome^{READ2002}.

In addition to being a critical caspase-8 substrate, Bap31 can complex with procaspase-8, a CED-4-like protein, and Bcl-XL^{NG1998}. This indicates that procaspase-8 is localized to multiple sites in the cell and depending on localization, each pool of caspase-8 may cleave a distinct set of target proteins. Interestingly, a novel isoform of procaspase-8, procaspase-8L, is selectively recruited to the Bap31 complex through an N-terminal extension (NEX) domain^{BRECKENRIDGE2002}.

THE BCL-2 FAMILY

The first mammalian homologue for ced-3, Bcl-2, was involved in B-cell lymphomas^{VAUX1988}. B cells normally undergo apoptosis following IL-3 withdrawal. Transfected Bcl-2 in these conditions suppressed apoptosis, displaying that tumor progression relies on escaping cell cycle control and prevention of apoptosis. Many signals leading to caspase activation are regulated by the Bcl-2 protein family.

The evolutionarily conserved family of Bcl-2 proteins can be classified into three subfamilies based on function and presence of Bcl-2 Homology (BH) domains: (1) Anti-

apoptotic; (2) Multidomain pro-apoptotic; and (3) BH3-only pro-apoptotic. The "rheostat" hypothesis states that the relative levels of pro- and anti-apoptotic proteins determine a cell's susceptibility to apoptosis^{KORSMEYER1995}. This is based on observations that pro-apoptotic members are capable of heterodimerizing with and inactivating the anti-apoptotic members of the Bcl-2 family. This interaction involves the amphipathic helix formed by the BH3 domain of pro-apoptotic Bcl-2 family members ^{FESIK2000}.



Figure 1.3 – The subfamilies of the Bcl-2 family of proteins. Group 1 consists of anti-apoptotic members while Group II and group III consist of proapoptotic members. Classification is based on function and BH domains. (Adams J, Cory S. *Science*. 281: 1322-1326)

The anti-apoptotic subfamily has all four BH domains. Bcl-2 and Bcl-XL, the two most important anti-apoptotic members of the Bcl-2 family, each possess a C-terminal hydrophobic helix that functions as a membrane targeting domain^{NGUYEN1993}. It is believed that Bcl-2 and Bcl-XL are redundant in their capacity to protect cells from apoptosis^{CHAO1995}. The importance of Bcl-2 in the apoptotic process is highlighted by 9

bcl-2 knockout mice surviving embryonic development but eventually exhibiting marked lymphoid apoptosis, melanocyte, neuronal, and intestinal lesions, and terminal kidney disease^{VEIS1993}.

The multi-domain pro-apoptotic proteins have all but the BH4 domain. Mammalian Bax and Bak promote cell death in spite of the homology to Bcl-2 at BH domain 1-3. It should be mentioned that although Bax and Bak are critical for apoptotic progression in mammals^{WE12001}, no ortholog has been identified in *C.elegans*.

The BH3-only pro-apoptotic members, as their name implies, possess only one of the BH domains. Many BH3-only proteins were discovered in protein interaction traps by binding to Bcl-2 or Bcl-XL, indicating that they are expressed in the cell under normal conditions. H owever, they are present in healthy cells in a dormant form and activated by posttranslational modifications, insuring that inappropriate cell death is not triggered. BIM^{PUTHALAKATH1999} and BMF^{PUTHALAKATH2001} are normally sequestered to the dynein motor complex and myosin V actin motor complex, respectively. In response to cell detachment (anoikis), these BH3-only proteins translocate to intracellular sites and bind anti-apoptotic Bcl-2 family members. Growth signaling leads to phosphorylation and sequestration of BAD to 14-3-3 scaffold proteins^{ZHA1996}. Upon growth-factor withdrawal, BAD is dephosphorylated, which leads to its binding of Bcl-2. Some BH3only proteins are only expressed under conditions where the cell is damaged in a particular manner. In response to stress signals including DNA damage, the tumor suppressor p53 transcriptionally upregulates many proteins to promote apoptosis, including the BH3-only proteins PUMA^{JEFFERS2003}, NOXA^{ODA2000}, and BIK^{MATHAI2002}. Since BH3-only proteins are activated in response to many different stimuli, it is believed that BH3-only proteins act as sensors of cell damage and stress^{BOUILLET2002}. In agreement with the notion that BH3-only are important for the initiation of apoptosis, targeted disruption of BH3-only genes in mouse models leads to protection from apoptosis and an increased incidence of tumors. For example, in mice with either PUMA or NOXA disrupted, a diminished apoptotic response is observed when treated with a variety of cytotoxic agents, including ionizing radiation and cytokine deprivation^{VILLUNGER2003}.

THE MITOCHONDRIA

Mitochondria are considered the 'powerhouses' of the cell, supplying ATP for cellular functions, thereby promoting survival. This organelle also possesses a proapoptotic function, capable of coupling various death signals into a common death This death pathway involves the release of pro-apoptotic factors such as pathway. cytochome c into the cytosol. As mentioned above, cytochrome c promotes formation of the apoptosome, which leads to caspase-3 activation and cellular demise. The mitochondria contains several other apoptotic proteins, including the flavoprotein apoptosis inducing factor (AIF)^{SUSIN1999}, endonuclease G, and second mitochondriaderived activator of caspases Smac/Diablo^{VERHAGEN2000}. Similarly to endonuclease G, AIF translocates to the nucleus where it promotes chromatin condensation and DNA fragmentation. Smac/Diablo is responsible for neutralizing the inhibitor of apoptosis proteins (IAP), which normally promote cell survival by inhibiting caspases^{WANG1999}. As a consequence of these events, mitochondrial dysfunction occurs. Hallmarks of dysfunction include swelling, altered membrane potential, and production of reactive oxygen species.

The mitochondrial outer membrane (MOM) must be permeabilized in order for proteins to be released. The mechanism by which this occurs, known as the

mitochondrial membrane permeabilization (MMP), remains elusive. However, it is certain that pro-apoptotic and anti-apoptotic members of the Bcl-2 family play a role in the release of these pro-apoptotic factors and the regulation of apoptosome assembly. In general, it is accepted that BH3-only and BAX-like proteins induce release of cytochrome c, whereas Bcl-2 and Bcl-XL inhibit it.

BH3-only proteins promote apoptosis by two mechanisms: inactivation of Bcl-2 and Bcl-XL by direct binding^{BOUILLET2002} and modification of multidomain Bcl-2 proapoptotic members^{HUANG2000}. Furthermore, BH3-only proteins can be further classified as "activators" or sensitizers"^{LETAI2002}. This is based on the finding that the BH3 domains of BID and BIM activate BAX and BAK when added to mitochondria, whereas BH3 domains of BAD and BIK cannot. Instead, BH3 domains of BAD and BIK bind the anti-apoptotic Bcl-2 members. Thus, lower concentrations of BID-like proteins are required to activate BAX-like proteins since BAD-like proteins sequester the antiapoptotic Bcl-2 proteins. Activation of BID to tBID(truncated BID) by caspase-8 cleavage results in translocation and insertion into the MOM^{LUO1998}. Activated tBID becomes an alkali-resistant, integral membrane protein that interacts with BAX and BAK^{RUFFOLO2000}. The activation event of BAX and BAK involves a conformational change and their subsequent homooligomerization^{RUFFOLO2003}. BAX and BAK are believed to be key participants in the release of cytochrome c since cells lacking both of these proteins do not release cytochrome c in response to diverse apoptotic stimuli^{WEI2001}.

There are several models that attempt to explain how MMP proceeds following BAX and BAK activation. The first model postulates that BAX and BAK form homomultimeric pores^{SAITO2000}. In addition, BAX, Bcl-2, and Bcl-XL can form ion channels in artificial membranes ^{ANTONSSON1997}. However, there is no data to support this

model in vivo. The second model suggests that Bcl-2 family stabilize or destabilize an existing channel known as the permeability transition pore (PTP), which forms across contact sites between the inner and outer mitochondrial membranes^{CROMPTON1999}. Core components of the PTP include the voltage dependent anion channel (VDAC) in the MOM, the adenine nucleotide translocator (ANT) in the IMS, and cyclophilin D in the mitochondrial matrix. The PTP is most likely involved since cyclosporin A, an inhibitor of the PTP, inhibits cytochrome c release^{ZAMZAMI2001}. BAX is able to induce a "full" permeability transition which is accompanied by mitochondrial swelling and depolarization or a transient permeability transition lacking swelling and depolarization but inducing release of matrix-localized calcein^{PASTORINO1999}. A transient opening of the PTP is more likely since mitochondrial production of ATP is still required for execution Moreover, oligomeric BAX releases cytochrome c in absence of a of apoptosis. permeability transition while monomeric BAX releases cytochrome c in presence of a permeability transition^{GOGVADZE2001}. Since it is known that tBID releases cytochrome c without swelling^{KLUCK1999}, these observations suggest that BAX and BAK cooperate with components of the PTP to induce a transient opening and that mitochondrial swelling and depolarization are secondary events. Indeed, these two events were shown to be caspase dependent and not required for initiation of MMP^{GOLDSTEIN2000}.

In order for proteins to cross the MOM into the cytoplasm, mitochondrial remodeling events are required^{SCORRANO2002}. Since only 15-20% of the total cytochrome c is in the intermembrane space (IMS)^{BERNARDI1981,} the cristae stores of cytochrome c must also be mobilized in order to be released. Cytochrome c in cristae is separated from the IMS by narrow cristae junctions. These junctions are opened when cristae become fused, making cytochrome c available for release into the IMS.

Under normal conditions, the shape of the mitochondrial network results from a balance between fusion and fission that is regulated by dynamins^{YAFFE1999}. A dominant negative mutant of Drp1, a dynamin related protein involved in mitochondrial fission, can block fragmentation of the mitochondria, MMP^{FRANK2001}, and apoptosis.

THE ENDOPLASMIC RETICULUM

The endoplasmic reticulum(ER) is the site of protein synthesis, folding, and trafficking as well as acting as a cell stress sensor. The role of the ER, until recently, was considered to sensitize the mitochondria to death signals. However, the ER, like the mitochondria, is now believed to play a role in the initial stages of the intrinsic pathway. It is now known that Bcl-2 family members reside at the ER and that procaspase activation c an o ccur at the ER, indicating that the ER h as components of the intrinsic machinery to receive and transmit apoptotic signals. The ER can participate in apoptosis in at least two ways: the unfolded protein response (UPR) and Ca^{2+} signaling.

The UPR is activated when the capacity of the ER to properly fold proteins has been compromised. In general, this involves halting the translation machinery as well as upregulating ER chaperones and other components of the secretory pathway^{TRAVERS2000}. Three transmembrane proteins Ire1, Atf6, and Perk are the main sensors of unfolded protein accumulation^{PATIL2001}. Accumulated unfolded proteins bind the ER chaperone BiP, disrupting its interactions with two other proteins, Ire1 and PERK. Ire1 and PERK, normally inactive when bound to BiP, each homo-oligomerize and autotransphosphorylate within their serine/threonine kinase domains^{KATAYAMA1999}. One isoform of Ire1 possess ribonuclease activity and cleaves 28S rRNA, inhibiting translation^{IWAWAKI2001}. Ire1 also possesses endonuclease activity that is required to cleave a short segment from X-box binding protein (XBP-1), generating a bZIP

transcription factor that upregulates ER chaperone transcription^{SHEN2001}. PERK phosphorylates the translation initiation factor eIF2 α , leading to translation downregulation^{HARDING1999}. ATF6 is cleaved during the ER stress response, generating a cytosolic fragment that translocates to the nucleus and functions as a basic leucine zipper transcription factor^{MCCULLOUGH2001}.

These events give the cell a chance to restore proper ER function. However, if the damage is too great, apoptosis is induced. ER stress-induced apoptosis can by studied by blocking N-linked glcosylation (tunicamycin, TN), inhibiting ER to Golgi transport (brefeldin A, BFA), disrupt disulfide bonds (dithiothreitol, DTT), or perturbing ER Ca²⁺ stores (thapsigargin, TG).

In a ddition to being a fundamental second messenger, Ca²⁺ also plays a role in apoptosis. It is known that the ER possesses the cell's largest store of Ca²⁺ POZZAN1994 . Ca²⁺ in the ER is free or bound to lumenal proteins such as calreticulin(CRT) and calnexin(CNX). A ctivation of the ER Ca²⁺ release c hannels, i nositol 1,4,5-triphosphate receptor (IP₃R) and ryanodine receptor (RyR), decreases [Ca²⁺]er and thereby increases [Ca²⁺]c whereas the sarcoplasmic/endoplasmic Ca²⁺-ATPase (SERCA) increases [Ca²⁺]er . Fluctuations in ER steady state Ca²⁺ levels as well as Ca²⁺ release can be apoptotic. For example, IP₃R-deficient lymphocytes are resistant to a variety of death signals^{JAYARAMAN1997}. C onversely, SERCA inhibition by TG induces apoptosis^{MA1999}. ER release of Ca²⁺ generates spikes and waves whose frequency and amplitude are sensed by Ca²⁺ -sensitive enzymes^{THOMENIUS2003}. The Ca²⁺ -sensitive cysteine protease calpain has been observed to cleave procaspase-12^{NAKAGAWA2000}. Caspase-12 is activated specifically in response to ER stress, and neurons lacking caspase-12 resist apoptosis by TN. This finding indicates that the ER is directly connected to its own caspase cascade.

Caspase-12 activation is also directly linked to Ire1 signaling. Ire1 can recruit Traf2, which interacts with and activates caspase-12^{VONEDA2001}. In addition, ER stress can induce translocation of caspase-7 to procaspase-12 and activate caspase-12^{RAO2001}. Calpain can also activate the serine/threonine phosphatase calcineurin by cleaving the calcineurin-binding domain of its inhibitor, cain^{KIM2002}. Once activated, calcineurin dephosphorylates the BH3-only protein BAD, which allows BAD to translocate to the mitochondria and antagonize Bcl-XL^{WANG1999}. Similarly to caspases, calpain has also been reported to cleave BID to tBID^{MANDIC2002}, as well as Bcl-2 and Bcl-XL.

 Ca^{2+} has the capacity of impinging on the mitochondrial apoptotic machinery. IP₃R-mediated C a^{2+} spikes c ould a ffect M MP, b ecause m itochondrial C a^{2+} uptake s ites are proximal to IP₃R-containing ER^{SZALAI1999}. Similar to their role in mitochondrial release of cytochrome c, BAX and BAK appear to be essential for redistribution of Ca²⁺ from the ER to the mitochondria. BAX, BAK double-null cells have decreased [Ca²⁺]er^{SCORRANO2003}, which results in a decreased Ca²⁺ uptake by mitochondria and resistance to apoptosis. SERCA overexpression restores sensitivity to apoptosis. In addition, caspase-12 processing is abrogated in BAX, BAK double-null cells and can be induced by ER-targeted BAK^{ZONG2003}. Furthermore, BAX and BAK can release Ca²⁺ from the ER to the mitochondria and induce cytochrome c release^{NUTT2002}. This indicates BAX and BAK at the ER have a distinct role from its counterparts in the mitochondria.

Similarily to its role at the mitochondria, Bcl-2 at the ER can antagonize BAX and BAK function. ER-localized Bcl-2 can enhance ER membrane permeability by regulating the IP₃R and the SERCA^{BERRIDGE1998}. Bcl-2 decreases steady-state free $[Ca^{2+}]er$, and this drop protects cells from cytochrome c release in certain signaling pathways^{PINTON2001}. For example, ER-targeted Bcl-cb5 prevents apoptosis by TN and

inhibits cytochrome c release^{THOMENIUS2003}. This indicates that crosstalk between ER and mitochondria can be interrupted by ER-localized Bcl-2^{HACKI2000}. The ER also harbors regulators such as RTN-XS which are capable of reducing the anti-apoptotic activity of Bcl-2 and Bcl-XL^{TAGAMI2000}.

In contrast to most BH3-only proteins that localize to the mitochondria, BIK resides at the ER and participates in ER to mitochondria crosstalk. BIK is capable of initiating cytochrome c release in the absence of caspase activity^{GERMAIN2002}. BIK may accomplish this by inducing BAX and BAK oligomerization in the ER and/or influencing Ca²⁺ release.

A strong argument can be made for an initiating role in apoptosis based on studies of BAP31. As mentioned above, crBAP31 inhibits several apoptotic events at the mitochondria, in the presence of active caspases. This indicates that the ER exerts a restraint upon the apoptotic machinery. BAP31 is found in complex with many proteins involved in apoptosis, including procaspase-8L, A4^{WANG2003}, and Bcl-2. Procaspase-8L, along with procaspase-12, represent two initiator caspases that are localized to the ER, supporting a role for ER in initiation of apoptosis. A4 is a putative ion channel and it has been proposed that BAP31-A4 might regulate Ca²⁺ release. Bcl-2 can neutralize potential proapoptotic activity of BAP31 by inhibiting caspase cleavage to p20. As mentioned above, Drp1 recruitment to mitochondria is involved in fragmentation and fission.

p20 induces ER release of Ca^{2+} , mitochondrial uptake of Ca^{2+} , Drp1 recruitment, and fragmentation and fission of mitochondrial network^{BRECKENRIDGE2003}.

The "two-hit" model proposes that an ER Ca^{2+} signals cooperates with BH3-only protein to promote cytochrome c release SCORRANO2002. For example, p20 may cooperate

with tBID to induce cristae remodelling and cytochrome c release. In a physiologial setting, BH3-only proteins may be suboptimal and their function may require costimulating action from the ER.

P53 ACTIVATION PATHWAYS

Various cell stress signals such as DNA damage and oncogene expression are coupled to the intrinsic apoptotic machinery via the tumour suppressor p53. The importance of p53 is evident since more than 50% of tumours have a p53 gene mutation^{HOLLSTEIN1991} and p53 knockout mice show a high incidence of tumour development^{DONEHOWER1996}. The ability of p53 functions to control passage through cell cycle and to control apoptosis in response to abnormal proliferative signals and stress including DNA damage is important for its tumour suppressor function.

P53 is a nuclear phosphoprotein that contains (1) an N-terminal acidic transactivating domain; (2) a central DNA-binding domain; (3) homotetramerization domain; and a (4) putative DNA damage recognition domain. Mutations in any of these domains may produce a dominant negative inhibitor of wild type p53^{DEVRIES2002}.

P53 is a very short-lived protein and is stabilized upon a stress signal^{PRIVES1999}. P53 protein levels are under stringent control, its abundance and activity being regulated by many post-translational modifications such as glycosylation, ubiquitination, and sumolyation^{MELCHIOR2002}. The amount of p53 protein expressed is determined by rate at which it is degraded, rather than rate at which it is made. Degradation proceeds through ubiquitin-mediated proteolysis. This involves the conjugation of polyubiquitin chains by ubiquitin ligases such as MDM2 to specific residues on p53, and recognition by the proteasome^{MOMAND2000}. The proteasome is the major protein-degrading machinery of the cell and is responsible for p53 protein turnover. MDM2, a ring-finger ubiquitin ligase, is considered to be a major determinant of p53 stability. Stress is sensed by several kinases, including the DNA-dependent kinase ATM, CHK1, and CHK2. ATM phosphorylates CHK1 and CHK2, which in turn phosphorylate p53^{SHIEH2000}. In addition, ATM also phosphorylates p53^{CANMAN1998} and MDM2^{MAYA2001}. Phosphorylation of MDM2 interrups its binding to p53, leading to p53 protein stabilization. p53 promotes cell cycle arrest by transactivating many genes. One critical target gene is the cyclin-dependent kinase inhibitor p21^{ELDEIRY1993}, which is the means by which p53 induces G1 cell cycle arrest. If DNA repair is successful, then the cell can enter S phase. If the damage is beyond repair, p53 can induce apoptosis by transactivating p53 inducible genes (PIGS).



Figure 1.4 – The tumour suppressor p 53. I n r esponse to DNA d amage, the c ell increases p 53 protein levels. p53 induces cell cycle arrest and if the damage is too great, p53 induces apoptosis. p53 induces these two pathways through its transcription-dependent mechanisms. (de Stanchina et al. *Genes Development*. 12: 2434-2442)

It is known that p53-dependent apoptosis depends on apoptosome formation^{SOENGAS1999}. p53 induces mitochondrial dysfunction by activating genes that are involved in mitochondrial-induced apoptosis, including p53AIP1^{OKA2000}, PIDD^{LIN2000} and many Bc1-2 family members. BH3-only proteins NOXA^{ODA2000}, PUMA^{NAKANO2000}, and BIK^{MATHAI2002} are upregulated as well as the multidomain BAX. Upregulated Bcl-2 members localize to both the ER and the mitochondria to promote apoptosis. P53 mediates apoptosis in a transcription independent manner as well, interacting with Bcl-XL and Bcl-2 at the mitochondria.

Another p53 activation pathway involves oncogene expression ^{SHERR2000}. Oncogenes such as Early region 1A of Adenovirus (E1A) and c-Myc are capable of activating p53^{HERMEKING1994}. Oncogene expression that deregulates the cell cycle either induces apoptosis or sensitizes cells to apoptotic stimuli. When retinoblastoma protein (RB) is bound to E2F, entry into S phase is inhibited^{GOTTLIEB1996}. To induce apoptosis, E1A associates with and inactivates RB, allowing p53 accumulation. In addition, E1A can stimulate p14 transcription, which binds to MDM2 and inhibits its activity.

OBJECTIVES

My goal was to investigate the role of BIK during p53-mediated apoptosis by conducting a targeted disruption of the putative BIK ortholog, BLK (BIK-Like-Killer), in mice. Initially, I had to confirm that BLK is indeed the mouse ortholog of BIK. BLK has 43% sequence homology to BIK and an identical BH3 domain, a region that is critical for its proapoptotic a ctivity, making it the strongest c andidate mouse ortholog. In human cells, our lab has shown that p53 induces BIK messenger RNA and protein. I will determine if elevated levels of p53 induces expression of BLK messenger RNA and protein levels. Our lab has also shown that BIK localizes to the ER membrane and induces cytochrome c release from this location in human cells, an observation that has not been ascribed to any other BH3-only protein to date. I will perform similar studies with BLK in mouse and if these criteria are met, the homology of BLK to BIK will be confirmed.

Furthermore, since an emerging theme in regulation of apoptosis is intracellular localization, we investigated the localization of BLK and BIK by swapping their transmembrane domains (TMD).

METHODS AND MATERIALS

Cell culture, adenovirus vector infection, and apoptosis assays

Human H1299 lung carcinoma and 293T embryonic kidney cell lines were cultured in a α -MEM medium supplemented with 10% fetal bovine serum and 100 µg/ml streptomycin and penicillin. Mouse RENCA renal carcinoma cell line was cultured in a RPMI medium supplemented with 10% fetal bovine serum and 100µg/ml streptomycin and penicillin. Mouse 3T3 embryo fibroblast and monkey COS-7 kidney cell lines were cultured in a Dulbecco's Modified Eagle Medium (DMEM) supplemented with 10% fetal bovine serum and 100 µg/ml streptomycin and penicillin.

Cells were infected at 100 plaque-forming units (PFU)/cell with adenovirus vectors expressing either wild-type p53, reverse tetracycline-controlled transactivator (rtTA), or wild-type Bcl-2. Briefly, cDNAS encoding p53, rtTA, and Bcl-2 were subcloned into a pCA14 variant containing the T-Rex promoter (Invitrogen), which functioned as a shuttle vector^{BETT1994}. The cell line for virus rescue was 293T cells stably transfected with pcDNA6/TR (Invitrogen), which expresses the tetR under control of the CMV promoter, and termed 293T-TR. The T-Rex variants were introduced into 293T-TR cells using Lipofectamine Plus (GIBCO BRL) together with pJM17^{MCGRORY1988}, the adenoviral genomic construct. After recombination in the cells, the virus was produced with T-Rex driven (but silent) cDNAs in place of the E1 region of the virus. Virus plaques were screened by PCR for presence of the correct insert, plaque purified again, then propagated in 293T-TR cells. Virus preparations were made from freeze/thaw lysates and titrations conducted on this same cell line. DEVD-amc caspase activity assay (Upstate Biotechnology) was obtained by treating cells with 50mM Hepes pH7.4, 1% Triton X-100, 5mM EDTA, and 2mM dithiothreitol, and incubating the extract with 50µM AcDEVD-amc for 30 min at 370. Fluorescence in the linear range of DEVDase activity was determined using a plate reader (Tecan).

Antibodies and immunoblots

The following antibodies were utilized: mouse anti-FLAG (Sigma), mouse monoclonal anti-p53 (PharMingen), goat polyclonal anti-BIK(Santa-Cruz Biotechnology, CA, USA), rabbit polyclonal BLK (Sigma), rabbit polyclonal anti-p21(Santa-Cruz Biotechnology, CA, USA), rabbit anticalnexin (gift from JJ Bergeron). Rabbit polyclonal antibody against human TOM20 was generated exactly as described by Goping *et al.* (1988). Alexa 594 and 488 conjugated secondary antibodies were purchased from Molecular Probes (Eugene, OR, USA). For immunoblot analysis, aliquots of cell extracts containing equivalent amounts of protein were resolved by sodium dodecyl sulfate polyacrylamide gel electrophoresis (SDS-PAGE), transferred to nitrocellulose and the blots incubated with primary antibody. Blots were then incubated with secondary antibody conjugated to horseradish peroxidase, and visualized by enhanced chemiluminescence (PerkinElmer LifeSciences).

Cloning and mutagenesis

BLK cDNA was cloned by PCR using an oligonucleotide-dT mouse embryo cDNA library. The 5' sense primer contained a sequence encoding a FLAG epitope tag, which preceded the BLK coding region. The primers used were 5'-CGGGATCCATGGACTACAAAGAC-GATGACGATAAATCGGGAGGCGAGACTTATGGC-3' and 5'-GGAATTCTCACTGA-AGCTGCAAATACCA-3'. An analagous procedure was used to create FLAG-BIK^{MATHAI2002}. Standard PCR site directed mutagenesis was performed to convert BLK codon 55 from Leu to Gly using the above primers in addition to 5'-SENSE-3' and 5'-ANTISENSE-3'. PCR fragments were cloned into pcDNA3 cloning vector (Invitrogen, Carlsbad, CA, USA) and recombinant plasmids introduced into E.coli XL1. Authenticity and insert orientation of purified plasmid were confirmed by DNA sequencing. An analogous procedure was used to create FLAG-BIK(L61G)^{MATHAI2002}. BLK cytosolic portion fused to the transmembrane domain of BIK (FLAG- BLK-BIKTM) and BIK cytosolic portion fused to the transmembrane domain of BLK (FLAGaddition to5'-BIK-BLKTM) were created using the above primers in ACTCCTGGCGCCTGGGTGTCATGCGAACAGGTGCTG-CTGGCG-3' and 5'-AACCCCGG-GTCCTGGGTGTCCCCTGACCAGGACCCT-GGGCAG-3' respectively. BLK and BIK transmembrane (TM) domain cDNA were fused to green fluorescent protein (GFP) by cloning into p-EGFP C1 vector. The primers used to obtain BLK TM cDNA were 5'-CGGAAT-TCTTGGGTGTCACCTGACCAGG-3' 5'-CGGGATCCTCACTGAAGCT-GCAAAT-3'. and The primers used to obtain BIK TM cDNA were 5'-CGGAAT-TCTTGGGTGTCCTGCGAAC-3' and 5'-CGGGATCCTCACTTGA-GCAGCAGG-3'.

Transient transfections

293T and 3T3 cells were grown to approximately 50% confluency in 6-well cell culture dishes. 0.8μg of pcDNA3 plasmids encoding FLAG-BLK, FLAG-BIK, FLAG-BLK (L55G), or FLAG-BIK(L61G) were transfected using Lipofectamine Plus Reagent (GIBCO BRL, Gaithersburg, MD, USA) according to the manufacturer's instruction. zVAD-fmk (50μM final concentration)(Enzyme System Products, Dublin, CA, USA) or vehicle alone were added to appropriate samples 3 h later. Cells were collected 24 h and extracts analyzed.

Northern blots

Total RNA was collected from RENCA cells using TRIzol Reagent as directed by the manufacturer (GIBCO BRL, Gaithersburg, MD, USA). RNA was quantitated by optical density and 25 µg used for Northern analysis. The probe was generated by digesting 10 µg of the FLAG-BLK pcDNA3 plasmid with *Eco*R1 and *Bam*H1. The released FLAG-BLK cDNA insert was resolved on a 1% agarose gel, the fragment isolated, purified, and labeled using an Oligolabeling Kit 9 (Amersham Pharmacia Biotech, Piscataway, NJ, USA) in the presence of α^{32} P-dCTP, according to the manufacturer's protocol. The northern blot was stripped and probed

with an actin cDNA probe.

Immunofluorescence

3T3 cells were grown to a confluency of 50% in 24-well dishes on coverslips. The cells were transfected, using Lipofectamine PLUS (Invitrogen), with vectors encoding FLAG-BLK, FLAG-BIK, FLAG-BIK, FLAG-BIKBLK. In addition, zVAD-fmk (50µM final concentration) was added to all cells. 2 0 h later, the cells are fixed with 4% paraformaldehyde and analyzed by double-label immunofluorescence. Cells were visualized with a Zeiss 510 confocal microscope and images captured and overlaid with the accompanying software.

RESULTS AND DISCUSSION

The Importance of BIK in p53-Mediated Apoptosis generates an Interest in BLK

Human B IK is the founding member of the BH3-only subclass of the Bcl-2 family of proteins. In contrast to other BH3-only proteins which exert their function at the mitochondria, BIK appears to function at the endoplasmic reticulum^{GERMAIN2002}. In addition, whereas most BH3-only proteins are expressed under normal conditions, BIK is only expressed upon apoptotic signaling by the tumor suppressor p53^{MATHAI2002}. Interestingly, knockdown of BIK protein during p53-mediated apoptosis by RNA interference significantly suppressed apoptosis, suggesting BIK is an essential effector of p53-mediated apoptosis^{MATHAI2003}. A targeted disruption of the putative BIK mouse homologue BLK would confirm the importance of BIK in p53-mediated apoptosis. However, confirmation that BLK is indeed the homologue of BIK was required.

The Gene Structures of BLK and BIK are Similar

Genetic analysis has established that the human Bik gene is localized to chromosome 22 at region q13.3^{VERMA2000}. In agreement with BLK being the mouse homolog of BIK, the mouse Blk gene has been mapped to the mouse chromosome 15 syntenic region^{AMANNA2001}. In addition, Figure 1A illustrates that the gene structures of BLK and BIK are similar. Each gene contains five exons and four introns of similar size. Both genes also exhibit similar functional organization, containing their start sites, BH3 domain, and stop sites in exons 2, 3, and 5 respectively. The transcription start site for both genes is located approximately 14kb from the translation start site. The 5' untranslated region (UTR) is considered to be unusually long, suggesting an additional

level of regulation exists within these sequences VERMA2000.

BLK was identified by searching GenBank for sequences that encode the BH3 domain^{HEGDE1998}. It is worthwhile to mention that performing a BLAST search of the mouse genome using the BIK sequence yields the BLK sequence only. While BLK and BIK protein share only 44% identity, Figure 1B illustrates that they do possess identical BH3 domains, which are responsible for the killing activity of these proteins.

During cloning and sequencing of BLK, a 24bp insertion not present in the sequence reported by Hegde et al.(Accession# AF048838) was found between the start site and BH3 domain(Accession# BC003732). This corresponds to an 8 amino acid insert, producing a 158 amino acid protein in contrast to the 150 amino acid protein observed by Hegde et al. In fact, the protein alignment presented in Figure 1B indicates that the presence of the insert creates a more favorable alignment for BLK with BIK. Closer inspection of the two sequences also revealed that the BLK^{INSERT} sequence also contains an additional 400bp insertion in its 5' UTR.

BLK and BIK Induction of Apoptosis Requires A Functional BH3 Domain and Caspases

To demonstrate the apoptotic activity of BLK and BIK, human 293T embryonic kidney and mouse 3T3 embryonic fibroblast cell lines were transfected with plasmids encoding BIK, BIK(L61G), BLK, BLK(L55G), in the presence of absence of the pan caspase inhibitor, zVAD-fmk. BIK (L61G) and BLK(L55G) have a conserved leucine residue in the BH3 domain mutated to glycine, preventing BH3-dependent apoptosis. After 24 h,

cell extracts were prepared and their ability to hydrolyze the fluorogenic caspase substrate DEVD-amc was measured. Figure 2 indicates that BLK and BIK can induce apoptosis in both human (293T) and mouse (3T3) cell lines. As expected, the ability of BLK and BIK to induce apoptosis relies on a functional BH3 domain since a point mutation in the BH3 domain of either protein abrogates apoptosis. Furthermore, presence of zVAD-fmk inhibits the ability of BLK and BIK to induce apoptosis, confirming that they cooperate with downstream caspases to execute apoptosis.

The Sensitivity of the BLK Antibody is Sufficient to Detect BLK Protein Function

Previous studies in our laboratory indicate that BIK protein is turned over rapidly^{MATHAI2002}. This is based on several observations including (1) E1A induced expression of BIK is detectable at much higher levels in the presence of Bcl-2; (2) mutant BIK, not wild type BIK, is detected following transient transfection; and (3) wild type BIK is detectable in the presence of z VAD-fmk following transient transfection. A ll three observations suggest that the potent apoptotic activity of BIK prevents its own ongoing synthesis during apoptosis. In this sense, BIK resembles p53 in that it is very unstable and its protein levels are monitored strictly.

To determine (1) if BLK is an unstable protein; and (2) if a commercial BLK antibody is sensitive enough to study BLK protein function, MEFs were transfected with plasmids encoding FLAG-BIK or FLAG-BLK in the presence or absence of zVAD-fmk. After 24 h, cell extracts were prepared, equivalent amounts of proteins, resolved by SDS-PAGE and immunoblotted with antibodies against FLAG and BLK. The upper panel in Figure 3

shows that transfected BLK expression, like BIK, is enhanced in the presence of zVADfmk. The bottom panel in Figure 3 establishes that the sensitivity of the BLK antibody is of the same order of sensitivity of the FLAG antibody, therefore sufficient to study BLK protein function.

Divergent Signaling: p53 does Not Induce BLK mRNA and Protein

BIK was identified as an upregulated transcript during apoptosis induced by the oncogene E1A^{MATHAI2002}. E1A can induce apoptosis only in the presence of p53 and p53 is required for induction of BIK. To determine if BLK mRNA is regulated in the same manner as BIK mRNA, mouse renal carcinoma (RENCA) cells were infected with adenovirus vector expressing p53, followed by RNA extraction and Northern blot analysis. Figure 4 shows that BLK mRNA is not upregulated by p53, in contrast to BIK mRNA. Furthermore, whereas the presence of Bcl-2 results in higher levels of BIK mRNA, levels of BLK mRNA are unaffected by adenoviral expression of Bcl-2. It is important to note that BLK mRNA was detectable in the absence of p53, whereas BIK mRNA is barely detectable.

Nevertheless, even though BLK and BIK behave differently at the mRNA level, they may still act similarly at the protein level. It is accepted that the proteasome pathway is important for turnover of many regulatory proteins^{KURLAND2001}. Although p53 is a wellknown target of the proteasome, BIK has also been identified as a proteasomal substrate^{MARSHANSKY2001}. In fact, proteasomal inhibitors are potent apoptosis-inducing agents^{MACLAREN2001}, presumably by stabilizing proapoptotic proteins such as BIK. The

peptide a ldehyde l actacystin i s a commonly u sed p roteasomal i nhibitor and h as a high specificity for the proteasome^{ALMOND2002}.

To assess if BLK protein levels are regulated by p53, RENCA cells were infected with adenovirus vector expressing p53. The infection was done in the presence or absence of either Bcl-2 or lactacystin in order to facilitate detection of BLK protein. After 24 h, cell extracts were prepared and protein extracts were analyzed by SDS-PAGE and immunoblotting. Figure 5 illustrates that p53 expression upregulates p21, but not BLK. Furthermore, presence of Bcl-2 or lactacystin does not allow for detection of BLK protein.

Lack of BLK induction by p53 was very unexpected. To confirm that BLK was not upregulated by p53, several cell lines were tested. All the cell lines described in Table 1 were treated to undergo p53-mediated apoptosis, but none exhibit BLK upregulation at the mRNA or protein level.

Cell Line	Origin	Туре
RENCA	Murine Renal Carcinoma	P53-null(mutation)
3T3	Murine Embyronic Fibroblast	P53-wild type
9D5/10E	Murine Erythroleukemia	P53-temperature sensitive allele
p53KO Murine		P53-targeted gene disruption
10(1)	Murine Embyronic Fibroblast	P53-deficient

Table 1 – Cell lines tested for BLK upregulation by p53.

In addition, some of these cell lines were induced to commit apoptosis by agents other than p53, including E1A and several ER stress agents such as tunicamycin and thapsigargin (data not shown). However, no evidence for BLK upregulation was observed.

Surprisingly, endogeneous BLK protein was never detected. Any research performed so far on BLK has been done by BLK cDNA transfection. There exists the possibility that p53 does induce BLK but (1) it is degraded through pathways independent of the proteasome or Bcl-2; or (2) levels induced are still below the detection threshold of BLK antibody and immunoblotting. An attempt to address these possibilities might allow for BLK detection.

In spite of gene similarities and BH3 identity, BLK appears to be regulated differently than the human orthologue, BIK.

Divergent Localization: BLK Localizes Primarily to the Mitochondria

Cellular distribution of BIK and BLK was analyzed by double-label confocal immunofluorescence microscopy. 3T3 cells were transfected with either plasmid encoding either FLAG-BIK or FLAG-BLK in the presence of zVAD-fmk to preserve cellular and organelle integrity. Figure 6A confirms that BIK localizes primarily to the ER, as previously reported^{MATHAI2002}. BIK colocalizes strongly with the ER marker calnexin as both localize to a reticular network outside the mitochondria. Figure 6B shows that BLK does not share this localization, instead colocalizing with TOM20 at the mitochondrial outer membrane.

A recent study defines a targeting sequence for targeting Bcl-2 family members to the mitochondrial outer membrane^{KAUFMANN2003}. In the study, extensive mutagenesis revealed that when the transmembrane domain is flanked by at least two basic amino acids at both ends, it preferentially targeted mitochondria.

Bcl-2 Family Member	Transmembrane Domain
BIK	WVSCEQ <i>VLLALLLLALLLPLLSGGLHLLL</i> K
BLK	WVSPDQDPGQ <i>LFPMVLLVFLLLGGAWYL</i> QLQ
BCL-2	PLFDFSWLSL K <i>TLLSLALVGACITLGAYLG</i> H K
BCL-XL	ESRKGQERFNR <i>WFLTGMTVAGVVLLGSLFS</i> RK

Table 2 – Transmembrane Domains of Bcl-2 Family Members.Transmembrane Domains are italicized.Basic amino acids are in bold type.

From Table 2, it is clear that BCL-XL would localize primarily to the mitocondrial outer membrane whereas BCL-2 would localize to multiple locations in the cell, implying non-redundant roles for these two proteins. According to the targeting model, neither BIK nor BLK should localize to the mitochondria. However, this model has notable exceptions: for example, BAX and BAK contain basic amino acids at only one end, but localize primarily to the mitochondria.

The Transmembrane Domains of BLK and BIK Localize to the Endoplasmic Reticulum

To gain insight in the divergent localization of BIK and BLK, transmembrane swaps were constructed and analyzed by double-label confocal immunofluorescence microscopy. BIKBLK, the N-terminal portion of BIK fused to the transmembrane domain of BLK, localized preferentially to the endoplasmic reticulum similarily to BLKBIK (N-terminal portion of BLK fused to transmembrane domain of BIK), shown in Figures 6C and 6D. Although this result supported the targeting model, it did not fit with the observation that BLK targets to the mitochondrial outer membrane. Enhanced Green Fluorescent Protein (EGFP) was then fused to the transmembrane domains of BIK and BLK. Figure 6E illustrates that both EGFP-BIKTM and EGFP-BLKTM colocalize with calnexin at the endoplasmic reticulum.

Construct	Localization
BIK	Endoplasmic reticulum
BLK	Mitochondria
BIKBLK	Endoplasmic reticulum
BLKBIK	Endoplasmic reticulum
EGFP-BIKTM	Endoplasmic reticulum
EGFP-BLKTM	Endoplasmic reticulum

Table 3 – Localization of Various BH3-only fusion proteins.

The immunophilin FKBP38 specifically interacts with Bcl-2 and Bcl-XL^{SHIRANE2003}. Alteration of FKBP expression has a strong influence on BCL-2 and BCL-XL targeting, overcoming inherent targeting sequences within BCL-2 and BCL-XL. This suggests that the transmembrane domain of a protein is not necessarily the determining factor in localization. It is possible that the N-terminal portion of BLK plays a role in targeting by either cooperating with its transmembrane domain or a binding partner similar to FKBP38. However, the N-terminal portion of BLK cannot force the BIK transmembrane domain, implying that the BIK transmembrane domain is "stronger" than the BLK transmembrane domain.

SUMMARY

Several BH3-only proteins are regulated by the tumor suppressor p53, which is specifically activated by DNA damage or oncogenic signals that lead to cancer. Many p53-induced pro-apoptotic proteins target the mitochondria, leading to mitochondrial dysfunction and cytochrome c release. Our lab, however, has identified a BH3-only protein BIK, upregulated by p53, that is able to mediate cytochrome c release from mitochondria from a location in the endoplasmic reticulum (ER). This suggests that BIK is an important mediator of p53-mediated apoptosis and that signals emanating from the ER regulate mitochondrial dysfunction on this cell death pathway. BLK has 43% sequence homology to BIK and an identical BH3 domain, a region that is critical for its proapoptotic activity, making it the strongest candidate mouse orthologue. In addition, the gene structures of these two proteins are similar in functional organization. BLK and BIK activate apoptosis in similar fashion in both human and mouse cell lines, dependent on the presence of a functional BH3 domain and active caspases. BLK, like BIK, is very unstable and can be stabilized by addition of pan caspase inhibitor, zVAD-fmk. In contrast to BIK, BLK is not upregulated by p53 at the RNA or protein level in several mouse cell line systems. BLK localizes to the mitochondria, not to the endoplasmic reticulum where BIK resides. To further investigate the localization of BLK and BIK, the transmembrane domains of these proteins were swapped. BLKBIK and BIKBLK both localized to the endoplasmic reticulum. Enhanced Green Fluorescent Protein fused to the transmembrane domains of BLK and BIK also localized to the endoplasmic reticulum. T he mitochondrial localization of BLK despite its transmembrane domain preference for the endoplasmic reticulum suggests that the N-terminal portion of BLK

plays a role in targeting. Collectively, these results argue that BLK is not the mouse homologue of BIK.



Figure 1A – Schematic representation of genomic structures of the human Bik and mouse Blk genes. X1 - X5 represents Exons 1-5; UnTranslated Region (UTR); +1 represents transcriptional start site.

T.

BIK	MSEVRPLSRDILMETLLYEQLLEPPTM-EVLGMTDSEEDLDPMEDFDSLECMEGSDAL ALRLACIGDEMD
BLK ^{insert}	MSEARLMARDVI-KTVPHDQVPQPPVASETPSMKEPV <u>AGENLSPV</u> RDVDLMECVEGRNQV ALRLACIGDEMD
BLK	MSEARLMARDVI-KTVPHDQVPQPPVASETPSMKEPVRDVDLMECVEGRNQV ALRLACIGDEMD
BIK	VSLRAPRLAQLSEVAMHSLGLAFIYDQTEDIRDVLRSFMDGFTTLKENIMRFWRSPNPGSWVSCEQVLLALLL
BLK ^{insert}	LCLRSPRLVQLPGIAIHRLAVTYSRT-GVRGIFRSLIRSLTNLRENIWS-WRVLTPGAWVSPDQDPGQLFP
BLK	LCLRSPRLVQLPGIAIHRLAVTYSRT-GVRGIFRSLIRSLTNLRENIWS-WRVLTPGAWVSPDQDPGQLFP
BIK	LLALLLPLLSGGLHLLLK
BLK ^{INSERT}	MVLLVFLLLGGAWYLQLQ

Figure 1B - *Protein Alignment*. Schematic comparing human protein BIK and the mouse proteins BLK and BLK^{REPORTED}. The sequences in bold represent the BH3 domains of the three proteins. The underlined sequence in BLK represents an insertion.

BLK

MVLLVFLLLGGAWYLQLQ



Figure 2 – *BIK and BLK cDNA are proapoptotic.* Transient transfection of 293T and MEF cells with pcDNA3 plasmids encoding BIK, BIK (L61G), BLK, BLK(L55G), in the presence or absence of 50 μ M zVAD-fmk. After 24 h, cell extracts were prepared and their ability to hydrolyze the fluorogenic caspase substrate DEVD-amc was measured.



Figure 3 – *BLK antibody sensitivity is similar to FLAG antibody sensitivity*. Transient transfection of MEF cells with pcDNA3 plasmids encoding FLAG-BIK or FLAG-BLK in the presence or absence of 50 μ M zVAD-fmk. After 24 h, cell extracts were prepared and and aliquots containing equivalent amounts of proteins were resolved by SDS-PAGE and immunoblotted with antibodies against FLAG and BLK.



Figure 4 – p53 does not induce BLK RNA. Murine Renca cells were infected with Ad p53 vector in the presence or absence of Ad Bcl-2 vector. 24 h later, RNA was extracted from cells and 25 µg separated by agarose gel

electrophoresis, transferred to nylon membrane, hybridized with α -³²P-labeled BLK cDNA, and the membrane exposed to radioautography. The membrane was stripped and probed with a α -³²P-labeled ACTIN cDNA. Shown in the bottom panel is a photograph of the ethidium bromide stained agarose gel prior to membrane transfer. The bands corresponding to 28S and 18S ribosomal RNA are indicated and provide gelloading controls.



Figure 5 - p53 does not induce BLK protein. Murine Renca cells were infected with Ad p53 vector in the presence of Ad rTTA vector, Ad Bcl-2, or 10 μ M lactacystin(LACTA). After 24 h, cell extracts were prepared and aliquots containing equivalent amounts of proteins were resolved by SDS-PAGE and immunoblotted with antibodies against BLK, P53, P21, and BCL-2. The upper right panel is a sample from BLK-expressing cells(control).



Figure 6A – Subcellular distribution of BIK. (a) 3T3 cells grown on coverslips were transfected with plasmid expressing FLAG-BIK. The cells were double-stained with anti-FLAG (Alexa 594 (red)) and either anti-CNX(calnexin, ER marker) or anti-TOM20(mitochondrial outer membrane marker)(Alexa 488 (green)), and images of the same cell visualized in the red, green, or merged(yellow) channels.



Ì.



Figure 6B – Subcellular distribution of BLK. (a) 3T3 cells grown on coverslips were transfected with plasmid expressing FLAG-BLK. The cells were double-stained with anti-FLAG (Alexa 594 (red)) and either anti-CNX(calnexin, ER marker) or anti-TOM20(mitochondrial outer membrane marker)(Alexa 488 (green)), and images of the same cell visualized in the red, green, or merged(yellow) channels.





Figure 6C – Subcellular distribution of BIKBLK. (a) 3T3 cells grown on coverslips were transfected with plasmid expressing FLAG-BLK. The cells were double-stained with anti-FLAG (Alexa 594 (red)) and either anti-CNX(calnexin, ER marker) or anti-TOM20(mitochondrial outer membrane marker)(Alexa 488 (green)), and images of the same cell visualized in the red, green, or merged(yellow) channels.



Figure 6D – Subcellular distribution of BLKBIK. (a) 3T3 cells grown on coverslips were transfected with plasmid expressing FLAG-BLK. The cells were double-stained with anti-FLAG (Alexa 594 (red)) and either anti-CNX(calnexin, ER marker) or anti-TOM20(mitochondrial outer membrane marker)(Alexa 488 (green)), and images of the same cell visualized in the red, green, or merged(yellow) channels.



Figure 6E – Subcellular distribution of BIKTM and BLKTM. (a) 3T3 cells grown on coverslips were transfected with plasmid expressing EGFP-BLKTM or EGFP-BIKTM(green). The cells were stained with anti-CNX(Alexa 594 (red)), and images of the same cell visualized in the red, green, or merged(yellow) channels.

REFERENCES

Acehan D, Jiang X, Morgan DG, Heuser JE, Wang X, and CW Akey. 2002. Three- dimensional structure of the apoptosome:implications for assembly, procaspase-9 binding, and activation. *Mol.Cell*. 9:423-432.

Almond JB, and GM Cohen. 2002. The proteasome: a novel target for cancer chemotherapy. *Leukemia*. 16: 433-443.

Amanna IJ, Clise-Dwyer K, Nashold FE, Hoag KA, Hayes CE. 2001. Cutting edge: A/WySnJ transitional B cells overexpress the chromosome 15 proapoptotic Blk gene and succumb to premature apoptosis. *J.Immunol.* 167: 6069-6072.

Antonsson B, Conti F, Ciavatta A, Montessuit S, Lewis S, Martinou I, Bernasconi L, Bernard A, Mermod JJ, Mazzei G, Maundrell K, Gambale F, Sadoul R, Martinou JC. 1997. Inhibition of BAX-channel forming activity by Bcl-2. *Science*. 277:370-372.

Baer R. 1994. Bcl-2 breathes life into embryogenesis. 1994. Am. J Pathol. 145: 7-10.

Bernardi P, Azzone GF. 1981. Cytochrome c is an electron shuttle between the outer and inner mitochondrial membranes. *J.Biol.Chem.* 256: 7187-7192.

Berridge MJ, Bootman MD, Lipp P. 1998. Calcium – a life and death signal. *Nature*. 395: 645-648.

Bouillet P, and A Strasser. 2002. BH3-only proteins – evolutionarily conserved pro-apoptotic Bcl-2 family members essential for initiating programmed cell death. *J.Cell.Sci.* 115:1567-1574.

Boulares AH, Yakovlev AG, Ivanova V, Stoica BA, Wang G, Iyer S, and M Smulson. 1999. Role of PARP cleavage in apoptosis. Caspase-3 resistant PARP mutant increases rates of apoptosis in transfected cells. *J.Biol.Chem.* 274: 22932-22940.

Breckenridge DG, Stojanovic M, Marcellus RC, Shore GC . 2003. Caspase cleavage product of BAP31 induces mitochondrial fission through endoplasmic reticulum calcium signals, enhancing cytochrome c release to the cytosol. *J.Cell.Biol.* 160:1115-1127.

Canman C E, Lim D S, Cimprich K A, Taya Y, Tamai K, Sakaguchi K, Appella E, Kastan MB, Siliciano JD. 1998. Activation of the ATM kinase by ionizing radiation and phosphorylation of p53. *Science*. 281: 1677-1679.

Chang DW, Ditsworth D, Liu H, Srinivasula SM, Alnemri ES, and X Yang. 2003. Oligomerization is a general mechanism for the activation of apoptosis initiator and inflammatory procaspases. *J.Biol.Chem.* 278: 16466-16469.

Chao DT, Linette GP, Boise LH, White LS, Thompson CB, and SJ Korsmeyer. 1995. Bcl-XL and Bcl-2 repress a common pathway of cell death. *J.Exp.Med.* 182:821-828.

Chinnaiyan AM, Tepper CG, Seldin MF, O'Rourke K, Kischkel FC, Hellbardt S, Krammer PH, Peter ME, Dixit VM. 1996. FADD/MORT1 is a common mediator of CD95 (Fas/APO- 1) and tumor necrosis factor receptor-induced apoptosis. *J.Biol.Chem.* 271: 4961-4965.

Conradt B, Horvitz HR. 1998. The C. elegans protein EGL-1 is required for programmed cell death and interacts with the Bcl-2-like protein CED-9. *Cell*. 93: 519-529.

Crompton M. 1999. The mitochondrial permeability transition pore and its role in cell death. *Biochem J.* 341: 233-249.

de Vries A, Flores ER, Miranda B, Hsieh HM, van Oostrom CT, Sage J, Jacks T. 2002. Targeted point mutations of p53 lead to dominant-negative inhibition of wild-type p53 function. PNAS. 99: 2948-2953.

Donehower L. 1996. Effects of p53 mutation on tumor progression: recent insights from mouse tumor models. Biochim Biophys Acta. 1242: 171-176.

Earnshaw WC, Martins LM, and SH Kaufmann. 1999. Mammalian caspases: structure, activation, substrates, and functions during apoptosis. *Annu.Rev.Cell.Biol.* 68: 383-424

el-Deiry WS, Tokino T, Velculescu VE, Levy DB, Parsons R, Trent JM, Lin D, Mercer WE, Kinzler KW, Vogelstein B. 1993. WAF1, a potential mediator of p53 tumor suppression. *Cell*:75: 817-825

Ellis HM, and HR Horvitz.1986. Genetic control of programmed cell death in the nematode C. elegans. *Cell*. 44:817-29.

Enari M, Sakahira H, Yokoyama H, Okawa K, Iwamatsu A, Nagata S. 1998. A caspase activated Dnase that degrades DNA during apoptosis, and its inhibitor ICAD. *Nature*. 391: 43-50.

Eskes R, Desagher B, Antonsson B, and JC Martinou. 2000. Bid induces oligomerization and insertion of Bax into the outer mitochondrial membrane. *Mol.Cell.Biol.*. 20:929-935.

Fesik SW. 2000. Insights into programmed cell death through structural biology. *Cell*. 103: 273-282.

Frank S, Gaume B, Bergmann-Leitner ES, Leitner WW, Robert EG, Catez F, Smith CL, and RJ Youle. 2001. The role of dynamin-related protein 1, a mediator of mitochondrial fission, in apoptosis. *Dev.Cell*. 1:515-525.

Germain M, Mathai JP, Shore GC . 2002. BH-3-only BIK functions at the endoplasmic reticulum to stimulate cytochrome c release from mitochondria. *J.Biol.CHem.* 277:18053-18060.

Germain M, and GC Shore. 2003. Cellular Distribution of Bcl-2 family proteins. *Sci.STKE*. 173: 10.

Gogvadze V, Robertson JD, Zhivotovsky B, and S Orrenius. 2001. Cytochrome c release occurs via Ca2+ dependent and Ca2+ independent mechanisms that are regulated by Bax. *J.Biol.Chem.* 276: 19066-19071.

Goldstein JC, Waterhouse NJ, Juin P, Evan GI, and DR Green. 2000. The coordinate release of cytochrome c during apoptosis is rapid, complete, and kinetically invariant. *Nature Cell Biol.* 2: 156-162.

Gottlieb TM, Oren M. 1996. p53 in growth control and neoplasia. *Biochim Biophys Acta* 1287: 77-102.

Grutter MG. 2000. Caspases: key players in programmed cell death. *Curr.Opin.Struct.Biol.* 10:649-655.

Hacki J, Egger L, Monney L, Conus S, Rosse T, Fellay I, Borner C . 2000. Apoptotic crosstalk between the endoplasmic reticulum and mitochondria controlled by Bcl-2. *Oncogene*. 19:2286-2295.

Hakem R, Hakem A, Duncan GS, Henderson JT, Woo M, Soengas MS, Elia A, de la Pompa J, Kagi D, and TW Mak. 1998. Differential requirement for caspase 9 in apoptotic pathways in vivo. *Cell*. 94:339-352.

Harding HP, Zhang Y, and D Ron. 1999. Protein translation and folding are coupled by an endoplasmic-reticulum-resident kinase. *Nature*. 397: 271-274.

Hegde R, Srinivasula SM, Ahmad M, Fernandes-Alnemri T, Alnemri ES . 1998, Blk, a BH3-containing mouse protein that interacts with Bcl-2 and Bcl-XL, is a potent death agonist. *J.Biol.Chem.* 273: 7783-7786.

Hermeking H, Eick D. 1994. Mediation of c-Myc-induced apoptosis by p53. *Science*. 265: 2091-2093.

Hollstein MC, Peri L, Mandard AM, Welsh JA, Montesano R, Metcalf RA, Bak M, Harris CC . 1991. Genetic analysis of human esophageal tumors from two high incidence geographic areas: frequent p53 base substitutions and absence of ras mutations. *Cancer Res.* 51: 4102-4106.

Horvitz HR. 2001. Genetic control of programmed cell death in C. Elegans. *Scientific World Journal*. 1:137.

Huang DC, and A Strasser. 2000. BH3-only proteins – essential initiators of apoptotic cell death. *Cell*. 103: 839-842.

Iwawaki T, Hosoda A, Okuda T, Kamigori Y, Nomura-Furuwatari C, Kimata Y, Tsuru A, Kohno K. 2001. Translational control by the ER transmembrane kinase/ribonuclease IRE1 under ER stress. *Nat Cell Biol.* 3: 158-164.

Jayaraman T, and AR Marks. 1997. T cells deficient in inositol 1,4,5trisphosphate receptor are resistant to apoptosis. *Mol.Cell.Biol.* 17: 3005-3012.

Jeffers JR, Parganas E, Lee Y, Yang C, Wang J, Brennan J, MacLean KH, Han J, Chittenden T, Ihle JN, McKinnon PJ, Cleveland JL, and Zambetti GP. 2003. Puma is an essential mediator of p53-dependent and -independent apoptotic pathways. *Cancer Cell*. 4:321-328.

Kam PC, and NI Ferch. 2000. Apoptosis: mechanisms and clinical implications. *Anaesthesia*. 55: 1081-1093.

Katayama T, Imaizumi K, Sato N, Miyoshi K, Kudo T, Hitomi J, Morihara T, Yoneda T, Gomi F, Mori Y, Nakano Y, Takeda J, Tsuda T, Itoyama Y, Murayama O, Takashima A, St George-Hyslop P, Takeda M, Tohyama M . 1999. Presenilin-1 mutations downregulate the signalling pathway of the unfolded-protein response . *Nature Cell.Biol.* 1:479-485.

Kaufmann T, Schlipf S, Sanz J, Neubert K, Stein R, and C Borner. 2003. Characterization of the signal that directs Bcl-XL, but not Bcl-2, to the mitochondrial outer membrane. *J. Cell. Biol.* 160: 53-64.

Kerr JFR, Wyllie AH, and AR Currie. 1972. Apoptosis: a basic biological phenomenon with wide-ranging implications in tissue kinetics. *Br J Cancer*. 26: 239-571.

Kerr JFR, Winterford CM, Harmon BV. 1994. Apoptosis: Its significance in c ancer and cancer therapy. *Cancer*. 73: 2013-2026.

Kim MJ, Jo DG, Hong GS, Kim BJ, Lai M, Cho DH, Kim KW, Bandyopadhyay A, Hong YM, Kim do H, Cho C, Liu JO, Snyder SH, Jung YK. 2 002. C alpain-dependent c leavage of c ain/cabin1 activates calcineurin t o mediate calcium-triggered cell death. *PNAS*. 99:9870-9875. Kluck RM, Esposti MD, Perkins G, Renken C, Kuwana T, Bossy-Wetzel E, Goldberg M, Allen T, Barber MJ, Green DR, Newmeyer DD. 1999. The proapoptotic proteins, Bid and Bax, cause a limited permeabilization of the mitochondrial outer membrane that is enhanced by cytosol. *J.Cell.Biol.* 147: 809-822.

Korsmeyer SJ. 1995. Regulators of cell death. Trends Genet. 11:101-105.

Kothakota S, Azuma T, Reinhard C, Klippel A, Tang J, Chu K, McGarry TJ, Kirshner MW, Koths K, Kwiatkowski DJ, and LT Williams. 1997. Caspase-3 generated fragment of gelsolin: effector of morphological change in apoptosis. *Science*. 278-294-298.

Krajewski S, Mai JK, Krajewska M, Sikorska M, Mossakowski MJ, and JC Reed. 1995. Upregulation of bax protein levels in neurons following cerebral ischemia. *J Neurosci.* 15: 6364-7376.

Krammer, PH. 2000. CD95's deadly mission in the immune system. *Nature*. 407: 789-795.

Kuida K, Haydar TF, Kuan CY, Gu Y, Taya C, Karasuyama H, Su MS, Rakic P, Flavell RA. 1998. Reduced apoptosis and cytochrome c-mediated caspase activation in mice lacking caspase-9. *Cell*. 94: 325-337.

Kuida K, Zheng TS, Na S, Kuan C, Yang D, Karasuyama H, Rakic P, Flavell RA. 1996. Decreased apoptosis in the brain and premature lethality in CPP32-deficient mice. *Nature*. 384: 368-372.

Kurland JF, and RE Meyn. 2001. Protease Inhibitors Restore Radiationinduced Apoptosis to Bcl-2-expressing Lymphoma Cells. *Int.J.Cancer.* 96: 327-333.

Lawen A. 2003. Apoptosis- an introduction. BioEssays. 25:888-896.

Letai A, Bassik MC, Walensky LD, Sorcinelli MD, Weiler S, and SJ Korsmeyer. 2002. Distinct BH3 domains either sensitize or activate mitochondrial apoptosis, serving as prototype cancer therapeutics. *Cancer cell*. 2: 183-192.

Li LY, Luo X, Wang X. 2001. Endonuclease G is an apoptotic Dnase when released from mitochondria. *Nature*. 412: 95-99.

Li K, Li Y, Shelton JM, Richardson JA, Spencer E, Chen ZJ, Wang X, and RS Williams. 2000. Cytochrome c deficiency causes embyronic lethality and attenuates stess-induced apoptosis. *Cell*. 101: 389-399.

Luo X, Budihardjo I, Zou H, Slaughter C, and X Wang. 1998. Bid, a Bcl2 interacting protein, mediates cytochrome c release from mitochondria in response to activation of cell surface death receptors. *Cell*. 94:481-490.

Ma TS, Mann DL, Lee JH, Gallinghouse GJ . 1999. SR compartment calcium and cell apoptosis in SERCA overexpression . *Cell Calcium*. 26: 25-36.

MacLaren AP, Chapman RS, Wyllie AH, Watson CJ. 2001. p53-dependent apoptosis induced by proteasome inhibition in mammary epithelial cells . *Cell Death Differ*. 8:210-218.

Mandic A, Viktorsson K, Strandberg L, Heiden T, Hansson J, Linder S, Shoshan MC . 2002. Calpain-mediated Bid cleavage and calpain-independent Bak modulation: two separate pathways in cisplatin-induced apoptosis. *Mol.Cell.Biol.*. 22: 3003-3013.

Marshansky V, Wang X, Bertrand R, Luo H, Duguid W, Chinnaduria G, Kanaan N, Vu MD, and J Wu. 2001. Proteasomes modulate balance among proapoptotic and antiapoptotic Bcl-2 family members and compromise functioning of the electron transport chain in leukemic cells. *J.Immunol.* 166: 3130-3142.

Mathai JP, Germain MG, Marcellus RC, and GC Shore. 2002. Induction and endoplasmic reticulum location of BIK/NBK in response to apoptotic signalling by E1A and p53. *Oncogene*. 21: 2534-2544.

Maya R, Balass M, Kim ST, Shkedy D, Leal JF, Shifman O, Moas M, Buschmann T, Ronai Z, Shiloh Y, Kastan MB, Katzir E, Oren M. 2001. ATM-dependent phosphorylation of Mdm2 on serine 395: role in p53 activation by DNA damage . *Genes Dev.* 15:1067-1077.

McCullough KD, Martindale JL, Klotz LO, Aw TY, Holbrook NJ. 2001. Gadd153 sensitizes cells to endoplasmic reticulum stress by down-regulating Bcl2 and perturbing the cellular redox state. *Mol Cell Biol.* 21: 1249-1259.

Meier P, Finch A, and G Evan. 2000. Apoptosis in development. *Nature*. 407: 796-801.

Melchior F, and Hengst L. 2002. SUMO-1 and p53. Cell Cycle. 1: 245-249.

Metzstein MM, Stanfield GM, Horvitz HR. 1998. Genetics of programmed cell death in C. elegans: past, present and future. *Trends Genet*. 14:410-6.

Momand J, Wu HH, Dasgupta G. 2000. MDM2--master regulator of the p53 tumor suppressor protein. *Gene*. 242: 15-29.

Muzio M, Stockwell BR, Stennicke HR, Salvesen GS, and VM Dixit. 1998. An induced proximity model for caspase-8 activation. *J.Biol.Chem.* 273: 2926-2930.

Nakagawa T, and J Yuan. 2000. Cross-talk between two cysteine protease families. Activation of caspase-12 by calpain in apoptosis. *J Cell Biol*. 150: 887-894.

Nakagawa T, Zhu H, Morishima N, Li E, Xu J, Yankner BA, Yuan J. 2000.Caspase-12 mediates endoplasmic reticulum-specific apoptosis and cytotoxicity by amyloid- β . *Nature*. 403: 98-103.

Nakano K, Vousden KH. 2000. PUMA, a novel proapoptotic gene, is induced by p53. *Mol.Cell*. 7:683-694.

Ng FW, Nguyen M, Kwan T, Branton PE, Nicholson DW, Cromlish JA, and GC Shore. 1997. p28 BAP31, a Bcl2/Bcl-XL- and procaspase-8-associated protein in the endoplasmic reticulum. *J.Cell.Biol.* 139: 327-338.

Ng FW, and GC Shore. 1998. Bcl-XL cooperatively associates with the Bap31 complex in the endoplasmic reticulum, dependent on procaspase-8 and ced-4 adaptor. *J.Biol.Chem.* 273:3140-3143.

Nguyen M, Breckenridge DG, Ducret A, and GC Shore. 2000. Caspase-resistant BAP31 inhibits fas-mediated apoptotic membrane fragmentation and release of cytochrome c from mitochondria. *Mol.Cell.Biol.* 20: 6731-6740.

Nguyen M, Millar DG, Yong VW, Korsmeyer SJ, and GC Shore. 1993. Targeting of Bcl-2 to the mitochondrial outer membrane by a COOH-terminal signal anchor sequence. *J.Biol.Chem.* 268:25265-25268.

Nutt LK, Chandra J, Pataer A, Fang B, Roth JA, Swisher SG, O'Neil RG, McConkey DJ. 2002. Bax-mediated Ca2+ mobilization promotes cytochrome c release during apoptosis. *J.Biol.Chem.* 277: 20301-20308.

Oda E, Okhi R, Murasawa H, Nemoto J, Shibue T, Yamashita T, Tokino T, Taniguchi T, and N Tanaka. 2000. Noxa, a BH3-only member of the Bcl-2 family and candidate mediator of p53-mediated apoptosis. *Science*: 288: 1053-1058.

Pastorino JG, Tafani M, Rothman RJ, Marcinkeviciute A, Hoek JB, Farber JL, Marcineviciute A. 1999. Functional consequences of the sustained or transient activation by Bax of the mitochondrial permeability transition pore. *J.Biol.Chem.* 274:31734-31739.

Patil C, and Walter P. 2000. Intracellular signaling from the endoplasmic reticulum to the nucleus: the unfolded protein response in yeast and mammals. *Curr Opin Cell Biol.* 13: 349-355.

Peter ME and PH Krammer. 2003. The CD95 (Apo-1/Fas) DISC and beyond. *Cell Death Diff.* 10: 26-35.

Pinton P, Ferrari D, Rapizzi E, Di Virgilio F, Pozzan T, Rizzuto R. 2001. The Ca2+ concentration of the endoplasmic reticulum is a key determinant of ceramide-induced a poptosis: significance for the molecular mechanism of Bcl-2 action. *EMBO*. 20:2690-2701.

Pozzan T, Rizzuto R, Volpe P, Meldolesi J. 1994. Molecular and cellular physiology of intracellular calcium stores. *Physiol Rev.* 74:595-636.

Prives C, and Hall PA. 1999. The p53 pathway. *J.Pathol.* 187: 112-126. Puthalakath H, Huang DC, O'Reilly LA, King SM, and A Strasser. 1999. The pro-apoptotic activity of the Bcl-2 family member Bim is regulated by interaction with the dynein motor complex. *Mol.Cell.* 3: 287-296.

Puthalakath H, Villunger A, O'Reilly LA, Beaumont JG, Coultas L, Cheney RE, Huang DC, and A Strasser. 2001. Bmf: a pro-apoptotic BH3-only protein regulated by interaction with the myosin V actin motor complex, a ctivated by anoikis. *Science*. 293: 1829-1832.

Rao RV, Hermel E, Castro-Obregon S, del Rio G, Ellerby LM, Ellerby HM, Bredesen DE. 2001. Coupling endoplasmic reticulum stress to the cell death program. Mechanism of caspase activation. *J.Biol.Chem.* 276: 33869-33874.

Read SH, Baliga BC, Ekert PG, Vaux DL, Kumar S. 2002. A novel Apaf-1independent putative caspase-2 activation complex. *J.Cell.Biol.* 159: 739-745.

Ruchaud S, Korfali N, Villa P, Kottke TJ, Dingwall C, Kaufmann SH, Earnshaw WC . 2002. Caspase-6 gene disruption reveals a requirement for lamin A cleavage in apoptotic chromatin condensation. *EMBO J.* 21: 1967-1977.

Rudel T, and GM Bokoch. 1997. Membrane and morphological changes in apoptotic cells regulated by caspase mediated activation of PAK2. *Science*. 276: 1571-1574.

Ruffolo SC, Breckenridge DG, Nguyen M, Goping IS, Gross A, Korsmeyer SJ, Li H, Yuan J, and GC Shore. 2000. BID-dependent and BID-independent for BAX insertion into mitochondria. *Cell Death Differ*. 7: 1101-1108.

Ruffolo SC, Shore GC. 2003. BCL-2 selectively interacts with the BIDinduced open conformer of BAK, inhibiting BAK auto-oligomerization. J Biol Chem. 278:25039-45 Saito M, Korsmeyer SJ, and PH Schlesinger. 2000. Bax-dependent transport of cytochrome c reconstituted in pure liposomes. *Nature Cell Biol*. 2:553.

Saraste A, and K Pulkki. 2000. Morphologic and biochemical hallmarks of apoptosis. *Cardiovasc Res.* 45: 528-537.

Schweizer A, Briand C, and MG Grutter. 2003. Crystal structure of caspase-2, apical initiator of the intrinsic apoptotic pathway. *J.Biol.Chem.* 278: 42441-42447.

Scorrano L, Ashiya M, Buttle K, Weiler S, Oakes SA, Mannella CA, and SJ Korsmeyer. 2002. A distinct pathway remodels mitochondrial cristae and mobilizes cytochrome c during apoptosis. *Dev. Cell*. 2:55-67.

Scorrano L, Oakes SA, Opferman JT, Cheng EH, Sorcinelli MD, Pozzan T, Korsmeyer SJ. 2003. BAX and BAK regulation of endoplasmic reticulum Ca2+: a control point for apoptosis.*Science*. 300: 135-139.

Shen X, Ellis RE, Lee K, Liu CY, Yang K, Solomon A, Yoshida H, Morimoto R, Kurnit DM, Mori K, Kaufman RJ. 2001. Complementary signaling pathways regulate the unfolded protein response and are required for C. elegans development. *Cell.* 107: 893-903.

Sherr CJ, Weber JD. 2000. The ARF/p53 pathway. Curr Opin Genet Dev. 10: 94-9.

Shieh SY, Ahn J, Tamai K, Taya Y, Prives C .2000. The human homologs of checkpoint kinases Chk1 and Cds1 (Chk2) phosphorylate p53 at multiple DNA damage-inducible sites. Genes Dev. 14: 289-300.

Shirane M, and KI Nakayama. 2003. Inherent calcineurin inhibitor FKBP38 targets Bcl-2 to mitochondria and inhibits apoptosis. *Nature Cell Biol.* 5: 1-10.

Smale G, Nichols NR, Brady DR, Finch CE, and WE Horton. 1995. Evidence for apoptotic cell detachment in Alzheimer's disease. *Exp Neurol*. 133: 225-230.

Soengas MS, Alarcon RM, Yoshida H, Giaccia AJ, Hakem R, Mak TW, Lowe SW .1999. Apaf-1 and caspase-9 in p53-dependent apoptosis and tumor inhibition. *Science*. 284:156-159.

Stegh AH, Herrmann H, Lampel S, Weisenberger D, Andra K, Seper M, Wiche G, Krammer PH, and ME Peter. 2000. Identification of the cytolinker plectin as a major early in vivo substrate for caspase 8 during cd95- and tumor necrosis factor receptor-mediated apoptosis. *Mol.Cell.Biol.* 20: 5665-5679.

Susin SA, Lorenzo HK, Zamzami N, Marzo I, Snow BE, Brothers GM,

Mangion J, Jacotot E, Costantini P, Loeffler M, Larochette N, Goodlett DR, Aebersold R, Siderovski DP, Penninger JM, Kroemer G. 1999. Molecular characterization of mitochondrial apoptosis-inducing factor. *Nature*. 397:441-6.

Szalai G, Krishnamurthy R, Hajnoczky G. 1999. Apoptosis driven by IP(3)linked mitochondrial calcium signals . *EMBO* . 18:6349-6361.

Tagami S, Eguchi Y, Kinoshita M, Takeda M, Tsujimoto Y. 2000. A novel protein, RTN-XS, interacts with both Bcl-XL and Bcl-2 on endoplasmic reticulum and reduces their anti-apoptotic activity. *Oncogene*. 19: 5736-5746.

Terai C, Kornbluth RS, Pauza CD, Richman DD, and DA Carson. 1991. Apoptosis as a mechanism of cell death in cultured T lymphoblasts acutely infected with HIV-1. *J Clin Invest*, 87: 1710-1715.

Thomenius MJ, and CW Distelhorst. 2003. Bcl-2 on the endoplasmic reticulum:protecting the mitochondria from a distance. *J Cell Sci.* 116: 4493-4499.

Thornberry NA, and Y Lazebnik. 1997. A combinatorial approach defines specificities of members of the caspase family and granzyme B. Functional relationships established for key mediators of apoptosis. *J.Biol.Chem.* 272: 17907-17911.

Travers KJ, Patil CK, Wodicka L, Lockhart DJ, Weissman JS, Walter P. 2000. Functional and genomic analyses reveal an essential coordination between the unfolded protein response and ER-associated degradation. *Cell*. 101: 249-258.

van den Eijnde SM, Boshart L, Baehrecke EH, De Zeeuw CI, Reutelingsperger CP, Vermeij- Keers C. 1998. Cell surface exposure of phosphatidylserine during apoptosis is phylogenetically conserved. *Apoptosis*. 3: 9-16.

Vaux DL, Cory S, Adams JM. 1998. Bcl-2 gene promotes haemopoietic cell survival and cooperates with c-Myc to immortalize pre-B cells. *Nature*. 335: 440-442.

Veis DJ, Sorenson CM, Shutter JR, and SJ Korsmeyer . 1993. Bcl-2-deficient mice demonstrate fulminant lymphoid apoptosis, polycystic kidneys, and hypopigmented hair. *Cell*. 75:229-240.

Verhagen AM, Ekert PG, Pakusch M, Silke J, Connolly LM, Reid GE, Moritz RL, Simpson RJ, Vaux DL. 2000. Identification of DIABLO, a mammalian protein that promotes apoptosis by binding to and antagonizing IAP proteins. *Cell*.102:43-53.

Verma S, Budarf ML, Emanuel BS, and G Chinnadurai. 2000. Structural analysis of human pro-apoptotic gene Bik: Chromosomal localization, genomic organization and localization of promoter sequences. *Gene*. 254: 157-162.

Villunger A, Michalak EM, Coultas L, Mullauer F, Bock G, Ausserlechner MJ, Adams JM, and A Strasser. 2003. p53- and drug-induced apoptotic responses mediated by BH3-only proteins puma and noxa. *Science*. 302: 1036-1038.

Vogelstein B, Lane D, and AJ Levine. 2000. Surfing the p 53 n etwork. *Nature*. 408: 307-310.

Wang B, Nguyen M, Breckenridge DG, Stojanovic M, Clemons PA, Kuppig S, Shore GC.2003. Uncleaved BAP31 in association with A4 protein at the endoplasmic reticulum is an inhibitor of Fas-initiated release of cytochrome c from mitochondria. *J. Biol. Chem.* 278:14461-14468.

Wang HG, Pathan N, Ethell IM, Krajewski S, Yamaguchi Y, Shibasaki F, McKeon F, Bobo T, Franke TF, Reed JC. 2002. Ca2+-induced apoptosis through calcineurin dephosphorylation of BAD. *Science*. 284: 339-343.

Wang SL, Hawkins CJ, Yoo SJ, Muller HA, and Bay HA. 1999. The Drosophila caspase inhibitor DIAP1 is essential for cell survival and is negatively regulated by HID. *Cell*. 98:453-463.

Wei MC, Lindsten T, Mootha VK, Weiler S, Gross A, Ashiya M, Thompson CB, and Korsmeyer SJ. 2000. tBID, a membrane-targeted death ligand, oligomerizes BAK to release cytochrome c. *Genes & Dev.* 14:2060-2071.

Wei MC, Zong WX, Cheng EH, Lindsten T, Panoutsakopoulou V, Ross AJ, Roth KA, MacGregor GR, Thompson CB, and SJ Korsmeyer. 2001. Proapoptotic BAX and BAK: a requisite gateway to mitochondrial dysfunction and death. *Science*. 292: 727-730.

Wolf BB, and DR Green. 1999. Suicidal tendencies: apoptotic cell death by caspase family proteinases. *J.Biol.Chem.* 274: 20049-20052.

Wyllie AH, Morris RG, Smith AL, and D Dunlop. 1984. Chromatin cleavage in apoptosis: Association with condensed chromatin morphology and dependence on macromolecular synthesis. *J.Pathol.* 142:67-77.

Yaffe MP. 1999. The machinery of mitochondrial inheritance and behaviour. *Science*. 283:1493-1497.

Yang X, Chang HY, and D Baltimore. 1998. Autoproteolytic activation of procaspases by oligomerization. *Molecular Cell*. 1: 319-325.

Yoneda T, Imaizumi K, Oono K, Yui D, Gomi F, Katayama T, Tohyama M. 2001. Activation of caspase-12, an endoplastic reticulum (ER) resident caspase, through tumor necrosis factor receptor-associated factor 2-dependent mechanism in response to the ER stress. *J.Biol.Chem.* 276 :13935-13940.

Yoshida H, Kong YY, Yoshida R, Elia J, Hakem A, Hakem R, Penninger JM, and TW Mak. 1998. *Cell*. 94: 739-750.

Yuan JY, Horvitz HR. 1990. The Caenorhabditis elegans genes ced-3 and ced-4 act cell autonomously to cause programmed cell death. *Dev Biol.* 138: 33-41.

Zamzami N, G Kroemer. 2001. The mitochondrion in apoptosis: how Pandora's box opens. *Nature Rev Mol Cell Biol.* 2: 67-71.

Zha J, Harada H, Yang E, Jockel J, and SJ Korsmeyer. 1996. Serine phosphorylation of death agonist BAD in response to survival factor results in binding to 14-3-3, not Bcl-XL. *Cell*. 87:619-628.

Zong WX, Li C, Hatzivassiliou G, Lindsten T, Yu QC, Yuan J, Thompson CB. 2003. Bax and Bak can localize to the endoplasmic reticulum to initiate apoptosis. *J Cell Biol.* 162:59-69.

Zou H, Henzel WJ, Liu X, Lutschg A, and X Wang. 1997. Apaf-1, a human protein homologous to C.elegans CED-4, participates in cytochrome c-dependent activation of caspase-3. *Cell*. 90: 405-413.